1'-METHYL-trans-ZEATIN AND ITS ANALOGUES: THEIR OC-CURRENCE, CHEMISTRY AND SYNTHESIS, AND CYTOKININ ACTIVITY[†]

Tozo Fujii,* Taisuke Itaya, and Masashi Ohba

Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Kanazawa University, Takaramachi, Kanazawa 920, Japan

Abstract — Recent advances in isolation, structure establishment, chemistry and synthesis, and evaluation of cytokinin activity of the title compounds are reviewed with 45 reference citations.

CONTENTS

- I. Introduction
- II. Occurrence
- III. Chemistry and Synthesis
 - A. Chiral and Racemic 1'-Methyl-trans-zeatins
 - B. The 9-β-D-Ribofuranosides of Chiral 1'-Methyl-trans-zeatins
 - C. Chiral 1'-Methyl-cis-zeatins
 - D. The 9-β-D-Ribofuranosides of Chiral 1'-Methyl-cis-zeatins
 - E. Chiral and Racemic 2-Hydroxy-1'-methyl-trans-zeatins
- IV. Related Compounds
 - A. Chiral N⁶-(1,3-Dimethyl-2-butenyl)adenines
 - B. The 9- β -D-Ribofuranosides of Chiral N⁶-(1,3-Dimethyl-2-butenyl)adenines
 - C. 2-Hydroxy-N⁶-methyladenine
 - D. Other Compounds
- V. Cytokinin Activity
- VI. Conclusions
- References and Notes

I. Introduction

Cytokinins are a group of phytohormones characterized primarily by the ability to pro-

[†]This review article is dedicated to the memory of Emeritus Professor Dr. Shun-ichi Yamada (University of Tokyo), who passed away at the age of 80 on April 21, 1996.

mote cell division in plant tissue cultures or secondarily by the ability to promote seed germination, leaf and cotyledon growth, or lateral bud development, to inhibit chlorophyll degradation, or to induce buds on moss protonema.¹ Besides a large number of synthetic cytokinins, whose activity varies from highly active to almost inactive, more than 30 naturally occurring cytokinins have so far been isolated from plants and microorganisms, and their chemical structures established.^{1c,2-10} Interestingly, all these natural cytokinins are N^6 -substituted adenines with or without substituent(s) on the purine nucleus.¹¹ They may be structurally classified into six families according to their N^6 -substituents: (1) the *trans*-zeatin (which is often referred to simply as zeatin) family (e. g., type 1); (2) the cis-zeatin family (e. g., type 2); (3) the dihydrozeatin family (e. g., type 3); (4) the IPA [N^6 -(Δ^2 -isopentenyl)adenine; N^6 -(3-methyl-2-butenyl)adenine; N^6 -($(\gamma,\gamma$ -dimethylallyl)adenine] family (e. g., type 4); (5) the N^6 -(2-hydroxybenzyl)adenine family (e. g., type 5); (6) the 1'-methyl-*trans*-zeatin family [e. g., type (1'R)-6].¹²



The last family in the above classification is a relative newcomer into the natural cytokinin group, and its members are characterized by their N^6 -substituents consisting of a branched allylic alcoholic C₆-unit with an asymmetric center adjacent to the N⁶ atom. The aim of this article is to give an overview of this unique newcomer and its analogues so far synthesized, with coverage of the literature through the late part of 1996.

II. Occurrence

Pseudomonas syringae pv savastanoi, the causative organism of olive, oleander, privet, and ash knot, secretes several cytokinins.^{2,13-16} In 1985, Surico *et al.*² reported the isolation of two new cytokinins and two other known cytokinins, *trans*-zeatin (1) and its 9- β -D-ribofuranoside, from AcOEt extracts of the culture filtrate of this gall-forming phytopathogenic bacterium. They proposed the gross structures (6) (1'-methyl-transzeatin)³ and (7) (1"-methyl-trans-zeatin 9- β -D-ribofuranoside),² without specifying the absolute configurations at the 1'- and 1"-positions, respectively, for the new cytokinins on the basis of spectroscopic data and comparison with related adenine derivatives including 1 and its 9- β -D-ribofuranosyl derivative. The accumulation of 6 and 7 in the culture medium of *P. syringae* pv savastanoi has been investigated.^{14,16} In addition, naturally occurring cytokinins (including the above four) produced by two phytopathogenic *Pseudomonas* bacteria and some of their derivatives and analogues have been characterized at the submicrogram level by FAB-MS/MS.¹⁷ Evidente *et al.*¹⁸ further found 7, trans-zeatin 9- β -D-ribofuranoside, 3, and its 9- β -D-ribofuranoside in the culture of an atypical ash strain of *Pseudomonas syringae* subsp. savastanoi.



In 1990, Farooqi *et al.*^{6a} reported the isolation of a new cytokinin from methanolic extracts of a marine green alga (code No. NIO-143) and another new cytokinin from blue coral (NIO-156). They proposed the gross structure (8) (2-hydroxy-1'-methyl-*trans*-zeatin: absolute configuration unknown) for the former and the structure (9) (2-hydroxy- N^6 -methyladenine) for the latter on the basis of spectroscopic data.^{6a} Furthermore, a plant growth factor produced by the fungus *Alternaria brassicae* has recently been assigned the gross structure (8) by Dahiya and Tewari.⁷

More recently, Farooqi *et al.*¹⁹ identified cytokinin-like substances in methanolic extracts of the leaves (at the vegetative bud stage) of *Rosa damascena* Mill. as **9**, N^6 -methyldihydrozeatin 9- β -D-ribofuranoside, **1**, and **4**.

III. Chemistry and Synthesis

A. CHIRAL AND RACEMIC 1'-METHYL-trans-ZEATINS

The structure and stereochemistry of the natural cytokinin (-)-1'-methyl-trans-zeatin have been established as (1'R)-6, as a result of the chiral syntheses of (1'R)-6 and (1'S)-6 by Fujii's group.^{4a,b} The key intermediates selected for the syntheses of the candidate structures were the chiral amine salts [(R)-18 and (S)-18], and they were prepared by



Scheme 1

incorporating the skeletons and chirality of D- and L-alanines [(R)-10 and (S)-10] into them, as shown in Scheme $1.^{4a,b,6b,c,20}$ Since the enantiomeric purity of the sample of (R)-16 thus obtained was determined to be more than 96%, those of (R)-18 and (S)-18 should be equally high, provided that each of conversions beyond 16 involved no racemization. Separate purinylations of (R)-18 and (S)-18 with 6-chloropurine in boiling 1-butanol containing Et₃N for 10 h gave (1'R)-6 [mp 201-202°C; $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ -109° (c 0.153, EtOH)] and (1'S)-6 [mp 201-202°C; $[\alpha]_D^{26}$ +103° (c 0.137, EtOH)] in 70% yield each. Of the two optical isomers, (1'R)-6 was identical with natural (-)-1'-methyl-trans-zeatin by comparison of their chiroptical properties, MS, UV, and ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra, and TLC mobilities. A parallel sequence of reactions starting from (±)-alanine $[(\pm)-10]$ and proceeding through (±)-11, (±)-12, (±)-13, (±)-17,²¹ (±)-16, (±)-15, (±)-14,^{6c} and (±)-18 furnished racemic 1'-methyl-trans-zeatin $[(\pm)-6]$ (mp 175.5–176.5°C).^{4c} Some reactions of (1'R)-6 will be described in Section IV,D.

B. THE 9-β-D-RIBOFURANOSIDES OF CHIRAL 1'-METHYL-trans-ZEATINS

The Italian research group has reported that hydrolysis of natural 7 with 0.5 M HCl at 95°C for 60 min or 6 h yielded β -D-ribose or the aglycone (6), respectively, as checked by TLC analysis.^{2,3} The solution of the structure and absolute stereochemistry of natural 7 came with the syntheses of (1"R)-7 and (1"S)-7 by Fujii's group, who eventually found that the former structure [(1"R)-7] is a complete expression for the natural glycosidic cytokinin.^{4a,b} As delineated in Scheme 1, separate condensations of 6-chloro-9- β -D-ribo-furanosylpurine with (R)-18 and with (S)-18 were effected in boiling 1-butanol containing Et₃N for 8 h, giving (1"R)-7 [hemihydrate mp 130–132°C; [α]¹⁴_D-117° (c 0.102, MeOH)] and (1"S)-7 [[α]¹⁸_D-2.2° (c 0.50, MeOH)] in 88% and 89% yields, respectively. The two nucleosides were then acetylated with acetic anhydride and pyridine at 30°C for 2 h to provide the tetra-O-acetyl derivatives [(1"R)-19 were found to be identical (by comparison of the spectra, TLC mobility, and chiroptical property) with natural 7 and its tetra-O-acetyl derivative, respectively.

Previous carbon-13 chemical shift assignments^{2,3} for the two methyl carbons in the N⁶-substituent of (1'R)-6 and (1"R)-7, as well as those² for the C(2') and C(3') of (1"R)-7, have been reversed by comparison with the ¹³C NMR data for the diastereomeric nucleoside [(1"S)-7] and the *cis* isomers [(1'R)-22 (Section III,C) and (1"R)-24 (Section III,D)].^{4d} Some other reactions of (1"R)-7 will be described in Section IV,D.

C. CHIRAL 1'-METHYL-cis-ZEATINS

The natural occurrence of both the *cis* and *trans* isomers (2 and 1) in the 1'-unsubstituted zeatin series suggests that the *cis* isomers of (1'R)-6 and (1"R)-7 may also occur in nature, and the availability of synthetic reference samples would greatly facilitate the search for these *cis* isomers as natural products. Thus, Fujii's group synthesized both (1'R)-1'-methyl-*cis*-zeatin [(1'R)-22]²⁰ and its enantiomer [(1'S)-22]^{6c} according to a route shown in Scheme 2.

For the synthesis of (1'R)-22,²⁰ the conversion of (R)-17 into the (Z)-ester [(R)-20] with excellent Z stereoselectivity was a key process in the synthetic scheme, and this was feasible by applying the Still-Gennari modification²² $[(CF_3CH_2O)_2P(O)CH(Me)CO_2Me,$ $KN(SiMe_3)_2$, 18-crown-6/MeCN, THF, -78°C, 30 min] of the Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons reaction. On reduction with DIBALH in CH₂Cl₂-hexane at -78°C for 45 min, (R)-20 gave the (-)-allylic alcohol [(R)-21] in 92% yield. Acid hydrolysis of (R)-21 (10% aqueous HCl, rt, 1 h) and isolation of the product in the form of the oxalate furnished (R)-23 in 88% yield. Finally, purinylation of (R)-23 with 6-chloropurine in boiling 1-butanol containing Et₃N for 3.5 h afforded (1'*R*)-**22** [mp 182–183.5°C; $[\alpha]_D^{22}$ –128° (c 0.117, EtOH)] in 75% yield. Repetition of this synthetic route, but starting with (*S*)-17 instead of (*R*)-17, gave (1'*S*)-**22** [mp 179.5–181°C; $[\alpha]_D^{20}$ +131° (c 0.148, EtOH)] in good overall yield.^{6c}





D. THE 9-β-D-RIBOFURANOSIDES OF CHIRAL 1'-METHYL-cis-ZEATINS

For the same reason as that described in Section III,C, Fujii's group prepared (1"R)-1"methyl-cis-zeatin 9- β -D-ribofuranoside $[(1"R)-24]^{20}$ and (1"S)-1"-methyl-cis-zeatin 9- β -D-ribofuranoside [(1"S)-24].^{6c} As shown in Scheme 2, separate condensations of 6-chloro-9- β -D-ribofuranosylpurine with (R)-23 and with (S)-23 in boiling 1-butanol containing Et₃N for 3.5 h gave (1"R)-24 [mp 206.5–207.5°C; $[\alpha]_D^{23}$ -131° (c 0.156, MeOH)] and (1"S)-24 [mp 134–136.5°C; $[\alpha]_D^{24.5}$ +13.1° (c 0.161, MeOH)] in 96% and 83% yields, respectively.

E. CHIRAL AND RACEMIC 2-HYDROXY-1'-METHYL-trans-ZEATINS

The problem of the structure of natural 2-hydroxy-1'-methyl-trans-zeatin $(8)^{6a}$ has been essentially the same as those of natural 6 and 7. Fujii *et al.*^{6b,c} synthesized (1'R)-8, (1'S)-8, and (\pm) -8 from 2-hydroxy-6-methylthiopurine (25) through a route shown in Scheme 3.

The MS, UV, and ¹H NMR spectra of the synthetic (1'R)-8, (1'S)-8, or (\pm)-8 were found to be virtually identical with those of the marine green alga cytokinin (8),^{6a} establishing that the natural cytokinin is indeed 2-hydroxy-1'-methyl-*trans*-zeatin. However, they were unable to establish the chiroptical identity on account of paucity of the natural



Scheme 3

cytokinin, thus leaving its absolute stereochemistry unknown. As will be described in Section V, however, in the tobacco callus bioassay the above synthetic (1'R)-8 and (\pm) -8 were active at 1 μ M and 4 μ M concentrations, respectively, whereas the synthetic (1'S)-8 was completely inactive at 0.01–10 μ M concentration.^{6b,c} In the lettuce seed germination bioassay (1'R)-8 was very weakly active, whereas (1'S)-8 was completely inactive.²³ Since the green alga cytokinin at the crude extract level has been shown to be active in the cucumber cotyledon greening bioassay,^{6a} it seems likely that the formula [(1'R)-8] is a complete expression for this natural cytokinin unless it is racemic.^{6b,c}

IV. Related Compounds

A. CHIRAL N⁶-(1,3-DIMETHYL-2-BUTENYL)ADENINES

The natural occurrence of the 1'-methylated trans-zeatin family suggests that analo-



gously methylated derivatives in the IPA family (Section I) may also exist in nature. If synthetic reference samples were available, the search for such 1'-methyl or 1"-methyl analogues as natural products would be greatly facilitated. For this reason, together with their continuing interest in the preparation and structure-activity relationships of cytokinins,²⁴ Fujii's group synthesized both enantiomers of N^{6} -(1,3-dimethyl-2-butenyl)adenine (1'-methyl-IPA) (28), as shown in Scheme 4.²¹

Thus, treatment of (R)-14 with NBS in benzene in the presence of triphenylphosphine at rt for 50 min afforded the allylic bromide [(R)-26] in 83% yield. Reduction of (R)-26 was effected with Super-Hydride in THF at 25°C for 30 min, giving (R)-27 in 80% yield. The carbamate [(R)-27] was then hydrolyzed with aqueous HCl in EtOH at rt for 7 h, and the basic product was isolated in the form of the oxalate [(R)-29] in 59% yield. Purinylation of (R)-29 with 6-chloropurine in boiling 1-butanol containing Et₃N for 3 h furnished (1'R)-1'-methyl-IPA [(1'R)-28] in 92% yield.

A parallel sequence of reactions starting from (S)-14 provided (S)-26 (73% yield), (S)-27 (80%), (S)-29 (56%), and (1'S)-1'-methyl-IPA [(1'S)-28] (86%).

B. The 9- β -D-Ribofuranosides of Chiral N⁶-(1,3-Dimethyl-2-Butenyl) Adenines

Fujii's group also prepared the 9- β -D-ribofuranosides of (1'R)-28 and (1'S)-28 for the same reason as that described in Section IV,A. Thus, separate condensations of 6-chlo-ro-9- β -D-ribofuranosylpurine with (R)-29 and with (S)-29 in boiling 1-butanol containing Et₃N for 5-7 h gave the target nucleosides [(1"R)-30 and (1"S)-30] in 98% and 74% yields, respectively (Scheme 4).²¹

C. 2-HYDROXY-N⁶-METHYLADENINE

The candidate structure (9) for the new cytokinin from blue coral^{6a} has been synthetically known since 1968.²⁵ Fujii's group prepared 9 from 2-hydroxy-6-methylthiopurine (25) in 85% yield by treating the latter with boiling aqueous methylamine for 1 h, a procedure slightly modified from that²⁵ reported. The synthetic 9 was found to be identical (by comparison of the MS, UV, and ¹H NMR spectra) with a sample of the natural cytokinin.

D. OTHER COMPOUNDS

The total syntheses of (1'R)-1'-methyl-trans-zeatin [(1'R)-6] and its 9- β -D-ribofuranoside [(1"R)-7], described in Section III,A,B, have made it possible to secure sufficient amounts of these two natural cytokinins for the study of structure-activity relationships. Thus, Evidente *et al.*²⁶ prepared some derivatives of (1'R)-6 and (1"R)-7 in the following manner (Scheme 5).

Catalytic hydrogenation of (1'R)-6 gave (1'R)-2',3'-dihydro-1'-methylzeatin [(1'R)-31] and (1'R)-2',3'-dihydro-1'-methyl-IPA [(1'R)-33]. The absolute configuration of (1'R)-31 at the 3'-position was inferred to be S. The probable (3'R)-diastereomer [(1'R)-32] could not be isolated from the hydrogenation mixture, although its formation was suggested by TLC

analysis. Treatment of (1'R)-6 with acetic anhydride and pyridine afforded (1'R)-4'-O-acetyl-1'-methyl-trans-zeatin [(1'R)-34].



Scheme 5

Next the nucleoside [(1"R)-7] was enzymatically converted into the 4"-O-acetyl derivative [(1"R)-35] by treatment with isopropenyl acetate in pyridine in the presence of subtilisin at 45°C for 48 h. Catalytic hydrogenation of (1"R)-7 produced (1"R)-2",3"-dihydro-1"-methyl-IPA 9-riboside [(1"R)-36] and two diastereomeric (1"R)-2",3"-dihydro-1"-methylzeatin 9-ribosides [(1"R)-37] and (1"R)-38].

V. Cytokinin Activity

The synthetic 1'-methylzeatin and its analogues described above were tested for cytokinin activity in the tobacco callus bioassay, lettuce seed germination bioassay, and/or etiolated cucumber cotyledon bioassay.

In the tobacco callus bioassay, the "natural" aglycone [(1'R)-6] was the most active in the 1'-methyl-trans-zeatin group (Section III,A,B):^{4b} it was as active as the known 1'unsubstituted cytokinin trans-zeatin (1). Interestingly, the "unnatural" aglycone [(1'S)-6] was apparently less active than (1'R)-6: the maximal yield of the callus was obtained at 0.04 μ M (1'R)-6 and at 1 μ M (1'S)-6. This stereochemistry-activity relationship also holds at the nucleoside (7) and the tetra-O-acetyl derivative (19) levels. As expected, 1b,d the nucleoside [(1"R)-7] and its tetra-O-acetyl derivative [(1"R)-19] were all less active than the aglycone [(1'R)-6]. However, the corresponding triplets [(1"S)-7], (1"S)-19, and (1'S)-6] in the (S)-series had similar activities. Thus, the cytokinin activity in the 1'-methyl-trans-zeatin group follows the order: trans-zeatin (1) \approx (1'R)-6 > $(1^{"}R)$ -7 \approx $(1^{"}R)$ -19 > $(1^{'}S)$ -6 \approx $(1^{"}S)$ -7 \approx $(1^{"}S)$ -19.4^b The racemic aglycone [(±)-6] was active at $0.04-1 \mu M$ concentration, a range between the optimum concentrations of both enantiomers [(1'R)-6] and (1'S)-6].^{4c} In the 1'-methyl-cis-zeatin group (Section III,C,D) and the 2-hydroxy-1'-methyl-trans-zeatin group (Section III,E), the maximal yield of the callus was obtained at 1 μ M (1'R)-8; 1-4 μ M (±)-8; 4 μ M (1'R)-22; 40 μ M (1'S)-22; 100 (or >100) μ M (1"R)-24.6^{c,20b} Both (1'S)-8 and (1"S)-24 were completely inactive at 0.01-10 μ M and 0.1-100 μ M concentrations, respectively.^{6c} 2-Hydroxy-N⁶-methyladenine (9) (Section IV,C) was very weakly active at 100 μ M concentration.^{6c} In the 1'-methyl-IPA group (Section IV,A,B), the maximal yield of the callus was obtained at 0.04-0.1 µM IPA (4); 0.4–1 μM (1'R)-28; 1 μM (1"R)-30; 1 μM IPA 9-riboside; 1–4 μM (1'S)-28; 4 μM (1"S)-30; 4–10 µM cis-zeatin 9-riboside.²¹

Interestingly, in all cases the R configuration at the 1'- or 1"-position seems to be more important than the S configuration in determining cytokinin activity. It is also apparent that introduction of a hydroxy group into 1'-methyl-*trans*-zeatin at the 2-position in both the (1'R)- and (1'S)-series reduces the activity to a considerable extent.

In the lettuce seed germination bioassay, a similar activity order was found for the above compounds. 4b,20b,23

In the etiolated cucumber cotyledon bioassay carried out by Evidente et al.,²⁶ (1'R)-6 and (1"R)-7 displayed a higher stimulating potency of chlorophyll synthesis when compared to trans-zeatin (1) and its 9- β -D-riboside, respectively. With regard to the synthetic analogues of (1'R)-6 and (1"R)-7, any modification of the carbon skeleton of the N⁶substituent proved to influence the activity. In particular, (1'R)-31, (1"R)-37, and (1"R)-38 obtained by saturation of the double bond in (1'R)-6 and (1"R)-7 showed a reduction or the complete loss of activity. (1'R)-2',3'-Dihydro-1'-methyl-IPA [(1'R)-33] and its 9riboside [(1"R)-36] were inactive. The acetylation of the hydroxy group as in the cases of (1'R)-34 and (1"R)-35 did not significantly affect the biological activity.

VI. Conclusions

The occurrence, chemistry and synthesis, and cytokinin activity of 1'-methyl-transzeatin and its analogues highlighted in this review appear to have occupied a unique niche in the cytokinin chemistry during the last 10 years. The above results provide a fine example in support of the statement²⁷ that chemical synthesis can still be an important and powerful tool for structure elucidation of natural products (particularly of those isolated only in minute quantity, unstable, and hard to crystallize) even in this new era of highly refined spectroscopic studies.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We acknowledge with gratitude the contributions of our co-workers, whose names appear in the individual literature citations. One (T. F.) of us wishes to thank Emeritus Professor Dr. Nelson J. Leonard (University of Illinois) for having given T. F. an opportunity to become interested in the cytokinin chemistry 35 years ago.

REFERENCES AND NOTES

- For reviews, see (a) K. Koshimizu and H. Iwamura, Nippon Nogeikagaku Kaishi, 1978, 52, R49; (b) S. Matsubara, Phytochemistry, 1980, 19, 2239; (c) D. S. Letham and L. M. S. Palni, Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol., 1983, 34, 163; (d) S. Matsubara, Crit. Rev. Plant Sci., 1990, 9, 17.
- 2. G. Surico, A. Evidente, N. S. Iacobellis, and G. Randazzo, *Phytochemistry*, 1985, 24, 1499.
- 3. A. Evidente, G. Surico, N. S. Iacobellis, and G. Randazzo, *Phytochemistry*, 1986, 25, 525.
- (a) T. Itaya, T. Fujii, A. Evidente, G. Randazzo, G. Surico, and N. S. Iacobellis, *Tetrahedron Lett.*, 1986, 27, 6349; (b) T. Fujii, T. Itaya, and S. Matsubara, *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, 1989, 37, 1758; (c) T. Fujii, T. Itaya, S. Yoshida, and S. Matsubara, *ibid.*, 1989, 37, 3119; (d) M. Ohba, T. Fujii, A. Evidente, G. Surico, and N. S. Iacobellis, *Heterocycles*, 1990, 31, 599.
- (a) A. Evidente, N. S. Iacobellis, R. Vellone, A. Sisto, and G. Surico, *Phytochemistry*, 1989, 28, 2603; (b) L. De Napoli, A. Evidente, G. Piccialli, C. Santacroce, and R. Vellone, *ibid.*, 1990, 29, 701.
- (a) A. H. A. Farooqi, Y. N. Shukla, A. Shukla, and D. S. Bhakuni, *Phytochemistry*, 1990, 29, 2061; (b) T. Fujii, M. Ohba, T. Haneishi, S. Matsubara, A. H. A. Farooqi, and Y. N. Shukla, *Heterocycles*, 1992, 34, 21; (c) T. Fujii, M. Ohba, H. Kawamura, T. Haneishi, and S. Matsubara, *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, 1993, 41, 1362.
- 7. J. S. Dahiya and J. P. Tewari, Phytochemistry, 1991, 30, 2825.
- 8. M. Strnad, W. Peters, J. Hanuš, and E. Beck, Phytochemistry, 1994, 37, 1059.
- 9. H. Kobayashi, N. Morisaki, Y. Tago, Y. Hashimoto, S. Iwasaki, E. Kawachi, R. Nagata, and K. Shudo, *Experientia*, 1995, **51**, 1081.
- S. A. B. Tay, J. K. MacLeod, L. M. S. Palni, and D. S. Letham, *Phytochemistry*, 1985, 24, 2611.

- 11. An exception to this statement may be 1,3-diphenylurea, which was isolated from coconut milk as a growth stimulator for carrot root tissue *in vitro*: E. M. Shantz and F. C. Steward, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 1955, 77, 6351. However, its cytokinin activity is weak.¹ On the other hand, Shudo's group⁹ recently reported the isolation of 4"-O-[3-O-[β -D-galactopyranosyl-($1\rightarrow 2$)- α -D-galactopyranosyl-($1\rightarrow 3$)- α -L-arabino-furanosyl]-4-O-(α -L-arabinofuranosyl)- β -D-galactopyranosyl]-trans-zeatin riboside as a major new cytokinin from the same source.
- An exception to this classification may be 2-hydroxy-N⁶-methyladenine (9) (Section II and Section IV,C). However, its cytokinin activity has been found to be very weak (Section V).^{6c}
- 13. G. Surico, L. Sparapano, P. Lerario, R. D. Durbin, and N. Iacobellis, *Experientia*, 1975, 31, 929.
- 14. E. M. S. MacDonald, G. K. Powell, D. A. Regier, N. L. Glass, F. Roberto, T. Kosuge, and R. O. Morris, *Plant Physiol.*, 1986, 82, 742.
- 15. G. Surico, NATO ASI Ser., Ser. H, 1986, 1, 315 (Chem. Abstr., 1987, 106, 135202v).
- G. Surico, A. Evidente, N. S. Iacobellis, and G. Randazzo, *Plant Pathog. Bact., Proc. Int. Conf., 6th*, 1985 (Pub. 1987), 566 (*Chem. Abstr.*, 1987, 107, 214522y).
- F. Greco, G. Sindona, N. Uccella, and A. Evidente, Org. Mass Spectrom., 1992, 27, 750.
- A. Evidente, E. Di Maio, A. Caponero, and N. S. Iacobellis, *Experientia*, 1995, 51, 990.
- 19. A. H. A. Farooqi, Y. N. Shukla, S. Sharma, and R. P. Bansal, *Plant Growth Regul.*, 1994, 14, 109.
- (a) T. Fujii, M. Ohba, and M. Sakari, *Heterocycles*, 1988, 27, 2077; (b) T. Fujii, M. Ohba, M. Sakari, and S. Matsubara, *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, 1990, 38, 2702.
- 21. T. Fujii, M. Ohba, H. Kawamura, Y. Nakashio, K. Honda, and S. Matsubara, *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, 1994, 42, 1045.
- 22. W. C. Still and C. Gennari, Tetrahedron Lett., 1983, 24, 4405.
- 23. S. Matsubara, T. Fujii, and M. Ohba, Sci. Rep. Kyoto Pref. Univ., 1994, 45, 1.
- (a) N. J. Leonard and T. Fujii, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 1964, 51, 73; (b) F. Skoog, H. Q. Hamzi, A. M. Szweykowska, N. J. Leonard, K. L. Carraway, T. Fujii, J. P. Helgeson, and R. N. Loeppky, Phytochemistry, 1967, 6, 1169; (c) S. M. Hecht, J. P. Helgeson, and T. Fujii, 'Synthetic Procedures in Nucleic Acid Chemistry,' Vol. 1, ed. by W. W. Zorbach and R. S. Tipson, Interscience Publishers, New York, 1968, pp. 8–10; (d) W. Grimm, T. Fujii, and N. J. Leonard, *ibid.*, pp. 212–214; (e) T. Fujii and N. Ogawa, Tetrahedron Lett., 1972, 3075; (f) S. Matsubara, K. Koshimizu, and T. Fujii, 'Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Plant Growth Substances,' ed. by Y. Sumiki, Hirokawa, Tokyo, 1974, pp. 456–461; (g) S. Matsubara, S. Shiojiri, T. Fujii, N. Ogawa, K. Imamura, K. Yamagishi, and K. Koshimizu, Phytochemistry, 1977, 16, 933; (h) S. Matsubara, T. Fujii, and T. Nishitani, Sci. Rep. Kyoto Pref.

Univ., 1988, **39**, 1; (i) A. Evidente, G. Piccialli, A. Sisto, M. Ohba, K. Honda, and T. Fujii, *Chem. Pharm. Bull.*, 1992, **40**, 1937.

- 25. A. Yamazaki, I. Kumashiro, T. Takenishi, and M. Ikehara, Chem. Pharm. Bull., 1968, 16, 2172.
- 26. A. Evidente, T. Fujii, N. S. Iacobellis, S. Riva, A. Sisto, and G. Surico, *Phytochemistry*, 1991, **30**, 3505.
- 27. T. Fujii, Yakugaku Zasshi, 1996, 116, 335.

Received, 21st October, 1996